71628-0

71628-0

No. 71628-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this prosecution for assault, the trial court permitted the State to present highly damaging evidence that Daryl Berry had assaulted his girlfriend in the past, despite the long-standing ban on the admission of propensity evidence. The court admitted the evidence for the purpose of assessing the complaining witness's credibility, yet her credibility was not at issue more than that of any other witness in the case. Moreover, the evidence was relevant to her credibility only through a theory of propensity—that is, only to show that because he assaulted her in the past, she must be telling the truth about the current allegations. Because the court misapplied ER 404(b) and admitted the evidence for improper reasons, the convictions must be reversed.

In addition, two points were erroneously added to the offender score, requiring reversal of the sentence and remand for resentencing.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The trial court abused its discretion in admitting prior bad act evidence.

2. The trial court erred in including a misdemeanor conviction from 2006 in the offender score.

3. The trial court erred in adding a point to the offender score based on a finding that Mr. Berry committed the current offense while on community custody.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts is not admissible at trial if the only relevance of the evidence is to show the defendant's propensity to commit the crime. Such evidence may be admissible in a domestic violence case if it is relevant to assess the credibility of the complaining witness under a theory other than propensity. Here, the trial court admitted evidence of Mr. Berry's prior assaults on the complaining witness for the ostensible purpose of assisting the jury to assess her credibility. But the only logical relevance of the evidence was to show her allegations about the current incident must be true because he assaulted her in the past. Did the court abuse its discretion in admitting the evidence?

2. Generally, only prior *felony* convictions are included in the offender score. Under RCW 9.94A.525(21), if the present conviction is for a domestic violence offense, prior misdemeanor convictions may be included in the offender score if "domestic violence as defined in RCW 9.94A.030, was plead and proven *after August 1, 2011.*" (emphasis

added). Did the court err in applying this provision where the prior alleged domestic violence misdemeanor conviction it included in the offender score was from 2006?

3. A point is added to the offender score if the State proves the defendant committed the current offense while on community custody. Did the court err in adding a point to the offender score on this basis where the State did not prove Mr. Berry committed the current offense while on community custody?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daryl Berry and Jessica Stump were romantically involved for several years and had two children together. 12/10/13RP 52; 12/11/13RP 45-47. On March 22, 2013, a no-contact order was entered prohibiting Mr. Berry from contacting Ms. Stump or coming to her residence. 12/10/13RP 59; 12/11/13RP 59; Exhibit 3.

On May 2, 2013, Ms. Stump was living in an apartment in Burien with her three children. 12/10/13RP 52. Early that evening, a person walking by the apartment saw a woman on the balcony screaming for someone to call the police. Exhibit 13. The bystander called 911. Exhibit 13. King County Sheriff Deputy Benjamin Miller responded to the call. 12/11/13RP 106. He found Mr. Berry and Ms. Stump standing in front of the apartment. 12/11/13RP 110. Mr. Berry was bleeding from his head and holding a cloth to his head. 12/11/13RP 111. Deputy Miller noticed marks on Ms. Stump's wrists and a lump behind her ear. 12/11/13RP 113. She told him Mr. Berry had punched her in the head and grabbed her wrist. 12/11/13RP 115, 118. She said he did not have permission to be in the home. 12/11/13RP 118. Ms. Stump did not seek medical attention for her apparent injuries. 12/11/13RP 62.

Mr. Berry was charged with one count of first degree burglary, domestic violence, based on assault, and one count of felony violation of a no-contact order, domestic violence, based on assault.¹ CP 7-8.

Prior to trial, the State moved to admit evidence of prior alleged incidents of violence between Mr. Berry and Ms. Stump under ER 404(b). 12/03/13RP 98-101. The trial court admitted the evidence over defense objection. 12/09/13RP 35-36, 44-45. The court instructed the

¹ The State also charged the aggravating circumstance that Mr. Berry committed the offenses shortly after being released from incarceration. CP 7-8. Although the jury found the existence of the aggravating circumstance, CP 71-72, the court did not impose an exceptional sentence. CP 81-83.

jury it could consider the prior bad act evidence for the purpose of assessing Ms. Stump's credibility:

Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for only a limited purpose. This evidence consists of prior incidents of violence and may be considered by you only for the purpose of assessing the credibility of the alleged victim. You may not consider it for any other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your deliberations must be consistent with this limitation.

CP 41; see also 12/11/13RP 44 (court's oral limiting instruction).

As a result of the trial court's ruling, at trial the deputy prosecutor asked Ms. Stump whether Mr. Berry had hurt her in the past. 12/10/13RP 53. Over objection, Ms. Stump testified, "the burns, the scratches, the scars – all that stuff, it's long gone. But the things that have happened in my head and my heart I'm still trying to repair and just get passed [sic]." 12/10/13RP 53-54. The prosecutor then asked, "Has there been physical violence between yourself and Daryl?" 12/10/13RP 54. Again over objection, Ms. Stump responded, "Clearly there has. Yes." 12/10/13RP 54. The prosecutor then asked about an incident on a specific date, October 5, 2012. 12/10/13RP 55. Ms. Stump responded that on that date, Mr. Berry was driving on the highway with her and her three children in the car. 12/10/13RP 55-56. He was upset "about people scratching his cars or turning his idle up

and down." <u>Id</u>. She said, "he just snapped and reached across the vehicle and punched me in my face in front of my kids." <u>Id</u>. He continued to punch her while driving and talking on the telephone. <u>Id</u>. He then pulled the car over to the side of the highway and the two wrestled. <u>Id</u>. He "yanked" her shirt over her head and she ran along the side of the highway "with no shirt on, . . . screaming for help." <u>Id</u>. He also removed the children from the car and left them on the side of the road. <u>Id</u>. Her son was only ten days old at the time. <u>Id</u>. A no-contact order was entered as a result of this incident. 12/10/13RP 56.

Regarding the current allegations, Ms. Stump said she was in her apartment sleeping when Mr. Berry started banging on her door. 12/10/13RP 61. She said he did not have permission to be there. 12/10/13RP 63. When the knocking stopped after a while, Ms. Stump opened the door to see if he had gone. 12/10/13RP 62. Mr. Berry then pushed open the door, striking her in the face and causing her to fall backward. 12/10/13RP 63-64. He continued to strike her. 12/10/13RP 64. She grabbed a picture from the mantel and struck Mr. Berry on the head. 12/10/13RP 65-66. She then went to the balcony, opened the door, and screamed for someone to call the police. 12/10/13RP 65-67. Mr. Berry testified he had lived in the apartment with Ms. Stump and the children for about four or five months. 12/12/13RP 41. He had a key and could come and go as he pleased. 12/12/13RP 41-43. That day, he had just gotten out of jail and had gone to the apartment to gather his belongings; he was not planning to stay. 12/12/13RP 45, 56. He did not think anyone was home because the couple's truck was not parked in its usual spot. 12/12/13RP 44. He did not bang on the door but opened it with his key. 12/12/13RP 45. He did not strike or push Ms. Stump, although she did strike him. 12/12/13RP 51-52, 56-57. He did not intend to violate the no-contact order. 12/12/13RP 61.

Mr. Berry also denied leaving his children on the side of the highway in October 2012 and said he would never do such a thing. 12/12/13RP 68.

Mr. Berry's uncle, Sidney Berry, also testified. 12/12/13RP 11-12. He had visited Mr. Berry, Ms. Stump, and their children at their apartment in Burien that spring. 12/12/13RP 13. He had no reason to think the family did not live there together and believed the apartment was Mr. Berry's home. 12/12/13RP 14-15.

The jury found Mr. Berry guilty as charged of first degree burglary and felony violation of a no-contact order. CP 65-66. The

jury also found, by special verdict, that Mr. Berry and Ms. Stump were "members of the same family or household prior to or at the time the crime was committed." CP 67-68.

E. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred in admitting evidence of prior alleged assaults by Mr. Berry for the purpose of assessing Ms. Stump's credibility, where the only logical relevance of the evidence was to show that, because he assaulted her in the past, she must be telling the truth about the current alleged assault
 - a. Evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts is inadmissible at trial unless it is logically relevant to a material issue through a theory other than propensity

Evidence of a defendant's other crimes, wrongs or acts is

categorically excluded from trial if the only relevance of the evidence is

"to prove the character of a person in order to show action in

conformity therewith." ER 404(b).²

Other act evidence is admissible only if it is logically relevant to

a material issue through a theory other than propensity. State v.

 $^{^{2}}$ ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

<u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d 358, 361-62, 655 P.2d 697 (1982). Such evidence may be admissible to prove a material issue such as "motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b). But even if a proper purpose is identified, that is not a "magic password[] whose mere incantation will open wide the courtroom doors to whatever evidence may be offered in [its] name." <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 364 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The "other purposes" listed in ER 404(b) for which other act evidence may be admitted are not exceptions to the categorical bar on propensity evidence. <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420-21, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). Such evidence is not admissible for *any* purpose if the only relevance of the evidence is to show the defendant's character and action in conformity with that character. <u>Id</u>.

The ban on propensity evidence is based on the fundamental notion that a defendant may be tried only for the offense charged. <u>State</u> v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 886-87, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

Before admitting other act evidence, the trial court must identify the purpose for admitting the evidence and determine whether the evidence is relevant and necessary for that purpose. <u>State v. Powell</u>, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258-59, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Evidence is relevant

and necessary if it makes the existence of the identified fact more probable. <u>Id</u>. The fact must be of consequence to the determination of the action and the probative value of the evidence must outweigh its potential for prejudice. <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 362.

.

Other act evidence is presumed inadmissible and the court must resolve any doubt as to whether to admit it in the defendant's favor. <u>State v. Fuller</u>, 169 Wn. App. 797, 829, 282 P.3d 126 (2012), <u>review</u> <u>denied</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1006, 297 P.3d 68 (2013). A trial court's interpretation of ER 404(b) is reviewed *de novo* as a matter of law. <u>State v. Fisher</u>, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). If the trial court interprets ER 404(b) correctly, the Court reviews the trial court's decision to admit misconduct evidence for an abuse of discretion. <u>Id</u>. A trial court abuses its discretion if it fails to abide by the rule's requirements. <u>Id</u>.

b. Ms. Stump's credibility was not sufficiently material to justify the admission of evidence of Mr. Berry's prior bad acts

Ms. Stump's credibility was not at issue any more than the credibility of any other witness in this case, or indeed any other witness in any other case. Therefore, her credibility was not sufficiently material to justify admitting evidence of Mr. Berry's prior bad acts. Case law provides guidance for when "credibility" is a proper purpose for admitting evidence under ER 404(b). In <u>State v. Magers</u>, for instance, a witness had previously made statements accusing the defendant of assault. 164 Wn.2d 174, 179, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). Prior to trial, however, she recanted those statements. <u>Id</u>. The Washington Supreme Court held "prior acts of domestic violence, involving the defendant and the crime victim, are admissible in order to assist the jury in judging the credibility of the recanting victim." <u>Id</u>. at 186. Thus, the evidence was relevant to enable the jury to assess the victim's credibility where she had given "conflicting statements." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>State v. Grant</u>, the complaining witness's initial statements to police, made in her husband's presence, did not identify her husband as her assailant. 83 Wn. App. 98, 102, 920 P.2d 609 (1996). But once her husband was removed from the scene, she identified him as the person who assaulted her. <u>Id</u>. At trial, the State sought to admit evidence of prior assaults between the two, as well as the testimony of the woman's therapist to the effect "that the consequences of domestic violence often lead to seemingly inconsistent conduct on the part of the victim." <u>Id</u>. at 103, 109. The Court concluded the therapist's testimony was relevant and admissible under ER 404(b). Id. In each case, the witness's credibility was in question not because her testimony contradicted the statements of other witnesses, but because the witness's statements contradicted themselves in a material way. In a normal case with conflicts between two witnesses, a jury can compare the testimonies of the witnesses with consideration of each person's demeanor, opportunity to observe events, and apparent bias. In such a case, the jury can use any of the tools at the disposal of every jury when faced with contradictory testimonies of witnesses. But where the conflict is internal to the witness's own statements, jurors are without those normal tools. In such a case, credibility is consequential in a unique way.

Here, there was no recantation or inconsistency in the witness's statements. Ms. Stump's statements to police were consistent with her testimony at trial. <u>See 12/11/13RP 115, 118; 12/10/13RP 61-67</u>. Her testimony simply did not raise the same credibility problem presented in <u>Magers</u> or <u>Grant</u>. Her credibility was not at issue more than that of any other witness. Yet, the trial court admitted evidence of Mr. Berry's prior bad acts "for the purpose of assessing" her credibility. CP 41.

If credibility in its broadest sense is enough to permit admission of another person's prior acts, there are few circumstances in which

that threshold would not be met. A witness's credibility is at stake in every trial. To permit "credibility" in its broadest sense to be a valid basis for admitting evidence of a criminal defendant's prior acts risks eviscerating ER 404(b), as there will be few if any instances in which credibility would not suffice as a purpose for admitting such evidence. If there is no specific, compelling reason to question the witness's credibility—such as where the witness has recanted or made substantially inconsistent statements—the credibility of the witness is not sufficiently material to justify opening the door to evidence of the defendant's prior bad acts.

In the absence of materially contradictory statements made by Ms. Stump, credibility was not sufficiently material to justify admitting evidence of Mr. Berry's prior bad acts.

> c. Evidence of Mr. Berry's prior bad acts was not logically relevant to Ms. Stump's credibility through a theory other than propensity

Even if Ms. Stump's credibility was a material purpose for admitting the evidence of Mr. Berry's prior acts, those acts were not logically relevant to her credibility through a theory other than propensity. Logical relevance is demonstrated if the identified fact for which the evidence is admitted is "of consequence to the outcome of the action" and tends to make the existence of the fact more or less probable. <u>Saltarelli</u>, 98 Wn.2d at 362-63. Again, the evidence must establish that fact by some logical theory other than propensity. <u>Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 420-21. The evidence at issue here did not meet this standard.

Assuming the assessment of Ms. Stump's credibility was a consequential purpose despite the absence of an internal contradiction in her statements, there is no showing of how the evidence of Mr. Berry's prior bad acts made her more or less credible except through a theory of propensity. That is, one can only conclude the prior acts were relevant by first concluding that because Mr. Berry assaulted her in the past, he must have done so on this occasion and therefore Ms. Stump is credible in making the present allegation. That is the only logical relevance of the evidence yet using the evidence for that purpose is plainly improper.

By contrast in <u>Grant</u>, the State sought to establish for the jury how the witness's denial and minimization fit within the context of domestic violence. 83 Wn. App. at 108. To explain the variance in the witness's testimony, the State did far more than merely offer evidence of prior acts. Instead, the State sought to do so by the use of an expert.

<u>Id</u>. In that way, the prior acts evidence was placed in context, allowing the State to argue credibly that the evidence was relevant to help explain why the witness would make inconsistent statements. As the Court explained, that combination of evidence allowed the jury "full knowledge of the dynamics" of a domestic violence relationship which the jury could use to evaluate the witness's credibility.

Here, the State did not attempt to provide the jury "full knowledge of the dynamics" of domestic violence. Indeed, no evidence was presented of those dynamics. Instead, there was just evidence of prior acts. The prior act evidence did not by itself explain either the dynamics of domestic violence or why a person's sworn testimony should be deemed credible. In <u>Grant</u> the State sought to prove the dynamics of domestic violence; here the State made no such effort.

Simply hearing other acts evidence in a vacuum does nothing to assist a jury to assess a witness's credibility or anything else beyond inviting jurors to view the evidence as propensity evidence.

In sum, the court erred in admitting the evidence.

d. The erroneous admission of the evidence was not harmless

The erroneous admission of evidence in violation of ER 404(b) requires reversal if, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. <u>Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 433. The Court must assess whether the error was harmless by measuring the admissible evidence of guilt against the prejudice caused by the inadmissible testimony. <u>State v. Bourgeois</u>, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997).

Here, the prejudice caused by the inadmissible testimony was substantial. Ms. Stump described an unrelated alleged incident from the past that undoubtedly predisposed the jurors to believe Mr. Berry was capable of—and likely committed—the current offense. Ms. Stump said that one day several months earlier, Mr. Berry punched her in the face in front of her children while driving in the car, then pulled off her shirt and forced her to run along the side of the highway "with no shirt on, . . . screaming for help." 12/10/13RP 55-56. She said he also forced her children out of the car, including her son who was only 10 days old at the time. <u>Id</u>. These allegations are shocking and portray Mr. Berry as a violent, heartless individual. The fact that a no-contact order was supposedly entered as a result of the incident implies the

allegations were deemed to be true by a court of law and therefore should be believed by the jury. Yet the prior alleged incident was wholly unrelated to the current allegations and should not have been admitted under ER 404(b).

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