71628-0

71628-0

NO. 71628-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

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

C. ARGUMENT

 ANY ERROR IN THE ADMISSION OF THE VICTIM'S TESTIMONY ABOUT PRIOR ASSAULTS WAS HARMLESS.

Berry contends that his convictions should be reversed because the trial court erroneously admitted evidence of prior

domestic violence by Berry against Stump. This claim should be rejected. Because any error was harmless, Berry's convictions should be affirmed.

Relevant Facts.

At trial, Stump and Miller testified to the facts set out above in section B.2 (with the exception of the fact that Berry had just been released from jail²). 5RP 51-69; 6RP 44-66, 103-22. When asked how she knew Berry, Stump visibly cried on the stand and testified that Berry used to be her best friend and was the father of some of her children. 5RP 52. In addition to Stump's testimony about the charged offenses, the trial court's pre-trial rulings allowed the State to elicit testimony from Stump about certain prior instances of violence by Berry against her. 4RP 44-45. The jury was instructed that it could use the prior incidents "only for the purpose of assessing the credibility of the alleged victim." CP 39.

Stump testified in general terms about the fact that Berry had hurt her physically and emotionally in the past, and stated that "the burns, the scratches, the scars -- all that stuff, it's long gone. But the things that have happened in my head and my heart I'm still

² Berry's recent incarceration was not referenced until Berry volunteered it during his own testimony. 7RP 45.

trying to repair and just get passed [sic]." 5RP 54. Stump also testified about one specific prior incident in October of 2012, seven months before the charged incident, which had resulted in the no contact order that Berry was charged with violating in the current case. 5RP 55-56. In the October incident, Stump explained, Berry had punched her while driving down the freeway, and then had pulled over and wrestled with her, pulling her shirt off in the process, before leaving Stump and her children by the side of the road. 5RP 55-56.

Stump made no reference to any charges or convictions stemming from the October 2012 incident, but merely said that a "restraining order" was issued as a result, and identified the no contact order admitted at trial as that order. 5RP 55-56. The copy of the no contact order that was admitted was redacted to remove all references to "domestic violence," and did not indicate in any way that Berry had been charged with a crime. Ex. 3. No records of Berry's prior conviction were offered or admitted at any point during the trial.

After the State rested, Berry's uncle testified that as far as he knew, Berry had resided with Stump at the apartment when the uncle had last visited them in the spring of 2013, prior to May of

that year. 7RP 14-16. Berry testified in his own defense, stating that he resided with Stump at the apartment, though he did not know the street address. 7RP 40-41. He denied ever knocking on Stump's door that day, and claimed to have entered with his own key. 7RP 42.

Berry volunteered on direct examination that he had "just got[ten] out of jail," and had gone to the apartment planning to get his belongings and leave, "because we had a no contact order."

Two questions later, Berry denied ever having been aware of the no contact order between him and Stump. 7RP 46. When defense counsel invited him to clarify, he gave a confusing explanation in which he referenced a 2002 no contact order between them.

7RP 47.

Berry denied grabbing or striking Stump, and claimed that she did not have any visible injuries when he left the balcony to talk to Miller. 7RP 51, 56-58. Berry denied that the signature on the no contact order was his, though he admitted on cross-examination that he had been in court on March 22, 2013, when it was issued. 7RP 70-71. Berry also denied knowing that the order prohibited from going to Stump's residence, stating that the judge had only told him to stay away from Stump. 7RP 71.

The first indication that Berry had been charged with or convicted of a crime for the October 2012 incident occurred when Berry volunteered on cross-examination that the incident that led to the no-contact order "was Assault IV," but said that "it wasn't even much a DV." 7RP 70, 72. When asked if the judge had explained the provisions of the no contact order to him, Berry responded, "[W]ell, the judge -- he explained it to me. The judge didn't explain nothing to me. He just asked me how did I plead." 7RP 72. Berry went on to insist that his guilty plea on the day the no contact order was issued was not for assaulting Stump in October 2012, but for attempting to assault her in 2002. 7RP 78.

Throughout Berry's testimony, he frequently gave directly contradictory answers within a short period of time, on issues such as whether it was his signature on a certified copy of his driver's license, whether it was his signature on the no contact order, and whether he would be surprised to learn that a recording of the hearing in which the no contact order was issued contains his voice stating that he understood he was being ordered to stay away from Stump's residence. 7RP 73, 80-82. When shown a copy of the

³ These statements were made in response to a question about whether Berry understood language in the no contact order prohibiting him from coming within 500 feet of Stump's residence. 7RP 70.

no contact order and asked to confirm that the order indicated it had been issued "in open court with the defendant present," Berry refused to answer because the order was from a different case and "d[id]n't have [any]thing to do with this case." 7RP 84.

Soon thereafter, Berry stopped responding to any questions posed to him, including those by his own attorney on redirect, and simply talked over his attorney, stating that his rights were being violated and that he wasn't being allowed to testify, until the jury was removed from the courtroom. 7RP 87-91.

b. Any Error Was Harmless.

In light of the Washington Supreme Court's recent decision in State v. Gunderson, No. 89297-1, 2014 WL 6601061 (Wash. Nov. 20, 2014), it appears that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of prior domestic violence by Berry against Stump under ER 404(b) in the absence of any inconsistent conduct or statements by Stump. However, the erroneous admission of ER 404(b) evidence is a non-constitutional error and is therefore harmless if there is no reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different had the error not occurred.

<u>Gunderson</u>, 2014 WL 6601061 at *4; <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 102 Wn.2d 689, 695, 689 P.2d 76 (1984).

Here, there is not a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict would have been different had the victim not testified about the prior assaults. Deputy Miller's observations that Stump was crying, out of breath, and had visible injuries on her wrist and head strongly corroborated Stump's version of events, and directly contradicted Berry's claim that Stump assaulted him without provocation and had no injuries when Miller arrived. 6RP 113-14. The 911 recording played for the jury also corroborated that Stump was crying prior to Miller arriving at the residence. 5RP 69; Ex. 13. Furthermore, Miller's testimony established that the account of events Stump gave him at the scene was consistent with her account at trial, while Berry had lied to Miller at the scene when he denied that Stump had caused his head wound. 5RP 60-66; 6RP 112, 117-18; 7RP 51-52.

Berry's entire testimony was riddled with contradictions and evasions, with Berry frequently giving opposite answers to the same question within moments of each other. 7RP 73, 80-82. When confronted with evidence that directly contradicted his claim that he didn't know about the no contact order, Berry flat out

refused to answer the question, and instead inexplicably asserted that the no contact order had nothing to do with this case. 7RP 84.

In finding Berry guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of burglary in the first degree and felony violation of a court order, the jury clearly found Berry's account of events not credible. CP 65-66. That conclusion was a natural, and perhaps inescapable, result of the complete lack of consistency within Berry's testimony and between Berry's testimony and Deputy Miller's unbiased observations. In light of that, Stump's testimony that Berry had assaulted her in the past, devoid of any indication that Berry had ever been charged with or found guilty of such a thing, would not have played a significant role in the jury's assessment of Stump's and Berry's relative credibility. There is thus no reasonable probability that the jury's assessment of Berry's and Stump's relative credibility would have been different had they not been permitted to use Stump's testimony about prior assaults to evaluate Stump's credibility.

Finally, even if Stump had not testified about any prior assaults by Berry, the jury would still have been aware of a history of violence in the relationship, because Berry volunteered unresponsive comments about having pled guilty to an attempted

assault on Stump in 2002 and a no contact order having been issued in that year. 7RP 47, 51, 68, 78. In light of all of the above, there is no reasonable probability that the jury's verdict would have been different had the ER 404(b) evidence not been admitted.

See, e.g., Jackson, 102 Wn.2d at 695-96 (erroneous admission of prior bad acts harmless as to one count where circumstantial evidence supported victim's account, and harmless as to other count where defendant's account was implausible and conflicted with observations of independent witnesses). Any error was therefore harmless, and Berry's convictions should be affirmed.

2. THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT OFFENDER SCORE ON COUNT TWO, BUT BERRY IS ENTITLED TO BE RESENTENCED ON COUNT ONE BECAUSE AN EXTRA POINT WAS IMPROPERLY INCLUDED IN HIS OFFENDER SCORE ON THAT COUNT.

Berry contends that his sentences are unlawful because the trial court improperly included one point for a prior domestic violence misdemeanor that should not have counted toward his offender score, and improperly included one point for Berry being on community custody at the time of the offenses in the absence of sufficient proof of that fact. These claims should be partially rejected. The trial court properly included one point for Berry's

community custody status after Berry affirmatively acknowledged that a point should be included in his offender score for that fact.

The trial court's error in improperly including a point for a pre-2011 domestic violence misdemeanor was harmless as to count two, because a second, offsetting, error caused the court to reach the correct offender score on that count. Berry should be resentenced on count one.

Relevant Facts.

During pre-trial motions, the State put Berry on notice that it had just learned that he was still on community custody at the time of the charged crimes, and would therefore be calculating his offender score as one point higher than previously indicated.

1RP 51. Berry objected, arguing that the State needed to allege his community custody status in the information and that the State had not given sufficient notice that it would seek to include a point in his offender score for his alleged community custody status. 1RP 51-52. Berry never disputed that he was in fact on community custody at the time of the charged crimes. 1RP 51-55.

In the State's pre-sentencing documents, the State calculated Berry's offender score as seven on count one, domestic violence burglary in the first degree. CP 100. That total was reached by including one point for each of Berry's three prior adult felony convictions, one point for a 2006 misdemeanor harassment domestic violence conviction, one point for Berry being on community custody at the time of the current offense, and two points for count two, the "other current offense" of domestic violence felony violation of a court order, pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(21)(a). CP 100.

The State calculated Berry's offender score on count two, domestic violence felony violation of a court order, in the same manner, except that the State mistakenly included only one point for count one, the "other current offense" of burglary in the first degree, instead of two, for a total offender score of six. CP 101.

Berry's pre-sentence report argued that the two current offenses constituted the same criminal conduct and should not score against each other, for a total offender score of five on each count.⁴ CP 76-80. Berry did not indicate exactly where each of

⁴ Berry also argued that count two merged into count one and should therefore be vacated. CP 76-78.

those five points came from, but gave no indication that he disagreed with the State's calculation that Berry had three points from prior felonies, one point from a prior domestic violence misdemeanor, and one point from being on community custody. CP 76-80.

The trial court ruled that the two current offenses did not merge and were not same criminal conduct, and noted Berry's offender score as seven on count one and six on count two, as calculated by the State. 10RP 23; CP 81, 100-101. Although the jury's finding that Berry committed the offenses shortly after being released from incarceration authorized the imposition of an exceptional sentence, the trial court sentenced Berry within the standard range on each charge. CP 71-72, 81, 83.

 The Trial Court Properly Included A Point In Berry's Offender Score For Berry's Community Custody Status At The Time Of The Crimes.

If an offender was on community custody at the time he committed the current offense, an additional point is added to his offender score. RCW 9.94A.525(19). The State ordinarily must prove a defendant's community custody status by a preponderance

of the evidence. RCW 9.94A.500(1); State v. Jackson, 150 Wn. App. 877, 891, 209 P.3d 553 (2009). However, a defendant's affirmative acknowledgement of his offender score renders further proof unnecessary. State v. Ross, 152 Wn.2d 220, 233, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004). This Court reviews a sentencing court's calculation of an offender score de novo. State v. Tili, 148 Wn.2d 350, 358, 60 P.3d 1192 (2003).

Although Berry did not explicitly state that he was on community custody at the time of the current offenses, he explicitly argued that his offender score was five, and argued that the State's asserted score of seven was incorrect because it was improper to include two points for the other current offense. CP 76-79. Under that argument, Berry's asserted score of five can only be arrived at by including a point for being on community custody, making his asserted score of five an affirmative acknowledgement that he was on community custody at the time of his offenses. See State v.

Nitsch, 100 Wn. App. 512, 522, 997 P.2d 1000 (2000) (affirmative assertion of a particular standard range is equivalent to assertion that offenses were not same criminal conduct, where that standard

⁵ Berry's criminal history contains no prior convictions that might possibly count toward his offender score other than the four scored by the State. CP 102.

range could only be arrived at by counting the offenses separately) (cited with approval in <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin</u>, 146 Wn.2d 861, 875, 50 P.3d 618 (2002)).

Because Berry affirmatively agreed with the portion of the State's offender score calculation related to his prior offenses and community custody status, no further proof of his community custody status was required, and the trial court properly included the community custody point in Berry's offender score. Ross, 152 Wn.2d at 233. In the event that this Court decides that the trial court erred in this regard, the State may present additional evidence of Berry's community custody status at a resentencing hearing. RCW 9.94A.530(2); State v. Jones, No. 89302-1, 2014 WL 6687186, at *4-5 (Wash. Nov. 26, 2014) (holding that the rule announced in State v. Lopez⁶ prohibiting additional evidence on remand was not constitutionally based and was validly overruled by amendments to RCW 9.94A.530(2)).

⁶ 147 Wn.2d 515, 55 P.3d 609 (2002).

 The State Concedes That The Trial Court Erred When It Included A Point For Berry's 2006 Misdemeanor Domestic Violence Conviction.

As of August 1, 2011, when a defendant is sentenced for a felony offense where domestic violence has been pled and proven, one point is included in his offender score for each prior adult conviction for a "repetitive domestic violence offense" where domestic violence was pled and proven after August 1, 2011.

RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c). "Repetitive domestic violence offense" is defined as any one of an enumerated list of misdemeanor domestic violence offenses, and includes misdemeanor domestic violence harassment. RCW 9.94A.030(41)(a)(iv). Additionally, two points are included for certain prior adult felony convictions where domestic violence was pled and proven after August 1, 2011; the list of applicable offenses includes burglary in the first degree and felony violation of a court order. RCW 9.94A.525(21)(a).

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